FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 2/3/2020 10:50 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/3/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98150-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON COA I No. 79656-9-I

LORI SHAVLIK and ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant(s)

V.

SNOHOMISH COUNTY ADVOCACY CENTER AT DAWSON PLACE,

Respondent

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Arthur West 120 State Ave. NE # 1497 Olympia, Washington, 98501

> Lori Shavlik PO BOX 73 Woodinville, WA 98072

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS
II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V. ARGUMENT
VIICONCLUSION.
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Board of Trustees of Woodstock Academy v. FOIC, 181 Conn. 544, 549, 436 A.2d 266 (1980)
<u>Champagne v. Humane society.</u> 47 Wn. App. 887, 737 P.2d 1279, (1987)
Clarke V. Tri-Cities Animal Control,
144 Wn, App, at 193-94
Florida v. Harris, 133 S. Ct. 1050, 156 (2013)
Fortgang v. Woodland Park Zoo, No. 92846-1 (Jan. 12, 2017)
<i>Telford v. Thurston County Board of Commissioners</i> , 95 Wn. App. 149, 162-63, 974 P.2d 886 (1999)
West v. Wash. Ass' n of County Officials, (WACO) 162 Wn.App. 120, 252 P.3d 406 (2011)

LAWS

42 U.S.C. 5106a(a)(2)(A),
Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act
RCW 26.24.020.
RCW26.44.020
RCW 26.44.180
RCW 26.44.185
RCW 42.56.550(3)
<u>ARTICLES</u>
The Justices of Rules and Standards, Kathleen M Sullivan 106 Harv. L. Rev. 22 (1992-1993)
Rules Against Rulification, Michael Coenen, Yale Law Journal, Volume 124, Issue 3, (2014)
Telford: Casting Sunlight on Shadow Governments-Limits to the Delegation of Government Power to Associations of Officials and Agencies, Leslie L. Marshall, available online at http://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1654&context=sulr
Snohomish County Investigation Protocols, 2017
Beyond Discretion: Prosecution, the Logic of Sovereignty, and the Limits of Law, Austin Sarat and Conor Clarke, Law & Social Inquiry Volume 33, Issue 2, 387–416, Spring 2008

Forming a Multidisciplinary Team to Investigate Child Abuse, U.S. Department of Justice Office of Justice Programs, www.popcenter.org/problems/child abuse/PDFs/Ellis (1998)........

15 Lessons Learned from Child Advocacy Centers, Shelly L. Jackson, Office forVictims of Crime, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice......

Theresa Young, *A grounded study of collaboration in multidisciplinary teams*, http://acumen.lib.ua.edu/content/ u0015/0000001/0001852/u0015 0000001 0001852.pdf

Beyond Discretion: Prosecution, the Logic of Sovereignty, and the Limits of Law, Austin Sarat and Conor Clarke, Law & Social Inquiry Volume 33, Issue 2, 387–416, Spring 2008.......

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Appellant Arthur West and appellant Shavlik respectfully move this Court for relief designated in Part B of this petition.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

On October 31, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion (appended as Exhibit I).

On January 4, 2020, the Court of Appeals denied appellant's Motion to Modify. (appended as Exhibit II)

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The question of whether entities such as Children's Advocacy Centers tha tconduct criminal forensic interviews and coordinate multidisciplinary teams of law enforcement officers for the investigation and prosecution of crimes should be seen to be the functional equivalent of public agencies is of substantial and widespread importance.

This case involves the novel question of whether the Children's Advocacy Center of Snohomish County at Dawson Place an agency that the conducts forensic interviews and coordinates multidisciplinary teams of law enforcement officers pursuant to a specific statutory mandate and in conformity with investigative protocols adopted pursuant to State law, should be found to be the functional equivalent of a public agency under the Washington State Public Records Act.

For over 3 decades, the Department of Justice¹ and federal and State legislation have encouraged states to adopt CACs and MDTs, for example, by "...creating and improving the use of multidisciplinary teams and interagency, intra-agency, interstate, and intrastate protocols to enhance investigations;..." (see the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act, 42 U.S.C. 5106a(a)(2)(A)).

There are over 850 CACs nationwide² and at least a half a dozen in Washington State. These organizations perform a necessary and critical role in our criminal justice system in the effective investigation and prosecution of some of the nation's most egregious crimes.

See; Children's Advocacy Centers, Program Summary, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice, https://www.ojjdp.gov/programs/ProgSummary.asp?pi=30

See; 15 Lessons Learned from Child Advocacy Centers, Shelly L. Jackson, Office for Victims of Crime, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice.

These critical law enforcement functions of the DPCAC, encouraged, established, defined, and controlled by State and federal laws and county protocols and funded in part by public funds raise a question of widespread importance as to whether these CAC organizations are the functional equivalent of public agencies .

2. The issue of whether the Telford Test should remain a totality of circumstances standard or whether it should be supplanted by a rule-like checklist of specific requirements is an issue of substantial importance involving conflicting rulings of Divisions I, II, and III.

The second, and perhaps more important issue is whether the "Telford" functional equivalency test should remain as a totality of circumstances standard, or instead being transformed into a rule-like checklist where the result is controlled not by a totality of circumstances standard but by rule-like checklist requiring the courts to respond in a determinate way to the presence of certain delimited triggering facts.

As one commentator has observed "[a] legal directive is 'standard'-like when it tends to collapse decisionmaking back into the direct application of the background principle or policy to a fact situation." while by contrast: "[a] legal directive is 'rule'-like when it binds a decisionmaker to respond in a determinate way to the presence of delimited triggering facts." See *Foreword: The Justices of Rules and Standards*, Kathleen M Sullivan 106 Harv. L. Rev. 22 (1992-1993), note 19, at 58. Cited in *Rules*

Against Rulification, Michael Coenen, Yale Law Journal, Volume 124, Issue 3, (2014)

In the present case the Trial and Appeals Courts rejected a totality of circumstances review and instead engaged in an analysis based upon rigid rules: whether a private person signed articles of incorporation, whether despite drawing over 50% of its funding from the public, some degree of fee for services could be seen during an arbitrarily selected time period; whether the agency performed "core" governmental services, and whether there was day to day control over the organization.

By creating a strict evidentiary checklist whose every item the litigants must tick off." the lower courts had employed the "antithesis of a totality-of-the-circumstances analysis,"

The "inflexible checklist," simply put, was not "the way to conduct a totality of circumstances review." (see, e.g. Florida v. Harris, 133 S. Ct. 1050, 156 (2013).

The court should have asked the simpler question of whether "all the facts surrounding the agency's activities, viewed through the lens of the Telford factors, would make a reasonably prudent person think that the agency was the functional equivalent of a public entity.

In failing to do so the Division I violated the terms of test set forth in Telford v. Thurston County Board of Commissioners,

95 Wn. App. 149, 162-63,. 974 P.2d 886 (1999), Board of Trustees v. Freedom of Information Comm'n, 436 A.2d at 270-1, common sense, and the precedent of the other appeals courts in West v. Waco and Clarke v. Tri-cities, as well as Florida v. Harris.

ARGUMENT

This case involves two basic issues.

First, whether an agency that conducts criminal forensic police interviews and coordinates criminal investigations and prosecutions is properly seen to be the functional equivalent of a public agency.

The second, and perhaps more important issue is whether the "Telford" functional equivalency test should remain as a totality of circumstances standard, or instead be transformed into a rule-like checklist where the result is controlled not by a totality of circumstances standard but by rule-like checklist requiring the courts to respond in a determinate way to the presence of certain delimited triggering facts.

The totality of circumstances analysis as set forth in the "Telford Test" should not be transformed into a rule-like checklist or "Fortgang Formula" where the result is controlled not by the totality of

circumstances but by checklist requiring the courts to respond in a determinate way to the presence of certain delimited triggering facts.

This conclusion is supported by the circumstance that if we view the functions of Dawson's Place under the totality of circumstances framework, it clearly presents itself as an entity that is performing the functional equivalent of l,aw enforcement and police activities.

1. DAWSON PLACE PERFORMS PUBLIC FUNCTIONS

1. The Court erred in finding that the DPCACSC's coordination investigation and prosecutions of felony crimes and conduct of criminal forensic interviews were not public functions in contrast to the determinations of the Ohio Supreme Court in Arnold and 9 other States that all ruled that CAC type interviews were the functional equivalent of public police interrogations, and the sound decision of the Tennessee Supreme Court in *Memphis Publishing v. Cherokee Children*, 87 SW 3d 67, (2002).

The November 25 decision of this Court found, based upon an incorrect, rigid, rule based review, that criminal forensic interviews and the coordination of investigation of felony crimes were not public functions. There are a large number of court decisions at variance with this ruling.

The public nature and due process implications of forensic interviews taken in CACs or in circumstances amounting to the functional equivalent of a forensic interview in a CAC are well established in black

letter law. One such decision is State v. Arnold, from the Supreme Court of Ohio which explains that the type of interviews taken at CACs and their functional equivalents are "testimonial" police interviews for the purpose of the confrontation clause:

In Siler, we stated that "courts have consistently applied the primary-purpose test to statements that a child declarant made to police or those determined to be police agents." Siler, 116 Ohio St.3d 39, 2007-Ohio-5637, 876 N.E.2d 534, at ¶ 29. In one of those cases, the Supreme Court of North Dakota stated, "In cases since Crawford, other states with the *functional equivalent* of the Children's Advocacy Center ('CAC') involved in this case have held that similar statements made by a child with police involvement inevitably are testimonial." State v. Blue (2006), 199 N.D. 50, 717 N.W.2d 558, ¶ 15.

The Arnold Court further explained the CAC MTD structure and its implications on the law enforcement related nature of the forensic interviews taken at CACs and their functional equivalents:

the CAC is responsible for assembling a multidisciplinary team. R.C. 2151.426 and 2151.427(A). The multidisciplinary team must include law enforcement and prosecuting attorneys as members. Id. The statutory connection between CACs and law enforcement suggests that CACs are not solely medical-treatment providers and that a CAC interviewer can be an agent of the police.

The circumstances of the interview indicate that its primary purpose was "to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution." Davis, 547 U.S. at 822, 126 S.Ct. 2266,

165 L.Ed.2d 224. See Siler, 116 Ohio St.3d 39, 2007-Ohio-5637, 876 N.E.2d 534, paragraph one of the syllabus. Police observed the interview, which the state concedes is a customary practice. A DVD recording of the interview was preserved, a strong indication that the purpose of the interview was to obtain evidence for use by prosecution...Furthermore, many of the questions asked were investigatory in nature and similar to the questions asked in a direct examination in a judicial proceeding. See Davis, 547 U.S. at 830, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 165 L.Ed.2d 224.

The Court in Arnold surveyed 9 other State Supreme Court Decisions which determined that statements taken in the equivalent of a CAC interview were "testimonial" law enforcement statements...

At least nine state supreme courts have concluded that out-of-court statements by child sexual assault victims to non-law-enforcement personnel are testimonial. State v. Contreras (Fla.2008), 979 So.2d 896; Hooper, 145 Idaho 139, 176 P.3d 911; In re Rolandis G., 232 Ill.2d 13, 327 Ill.Dec. 479, 902 N.E.2d 600; State v. Bentley (Iowa 2007), 739 N.W.2d 296; State v. Henderson (2007), 284 Kan. 267, 160 P.3d 776; State v. Snowden (2005), 385 Md. 64, 867 A.2d 314; State v. Justus (Mo.2006), 205 S.W. 3d 872; Blue, 2006 ND 134, 717 N.W.2d 558; Mack, 337 Or. 586, 101 P.3d 349. Each of these cases involves an interviewer who performed in circumstances substantially similar to the facts before us. See, e.g., Blue, 2006 ND 134, 717 N.W.2d 558, ¶ 2-3 (a forensic interviewer conducted the interview while a police officer watched; the officer was given a videotaped recording of the interview); Contreras, 979 So.2d at 905 (interview by child-protection-team coordinator was watched by police officer and recorded); Bentley, 739 N.W.2d at 297,

(interview by counselor at child- protection center was watched by police officers, who took videotaped copy of the interview with them). My conclusion in this case is bolstered by the fact that the majority of our sister courts that have considered substantially the same issue have reached the same conclusion that I reach.

Based upon this precedent, it is beyond question that the forensic child interviews conducted at the Dawson Place Child Advocacy Center of Snohomish County are the functional equivalent of police functions implicating due process concerns.

Defendant's argument in this case appears to rest on the faulty basis of an organizational shell or three card Monte game whereby an artificial and specious distinction is drawn between "Dawson Place", "The Child Advocacy Center of Snohomish County" and the offices of Prosecuting Attorney and Sheriff of Snohomish County.

In reality, there is no such distinction. Dawson Place, the Child Advocacy Center of Snohomish County, and the Special Assault and Investigation Units of the County Prosecutor and Sheriff are all interrelated component parts of a unified whole, operating out of one location to conduct law enforcement activities³ pursuant to enabling legislation and mandatory statutorily required protocols.

The deposition evidence demonstrates that 9 Prosecutors and 6 County Sheriff Deputies operate out of The CACSC, and that virtually all of the forensic interviews of young victims of sexual assault in the entirety of Snohomish County are conducted by Daswson Place interviewers in the context of a Multidisciplinary team.

Specific examples of CAC's or similar organizations having been found to be the equivalent of public agencies are shown in the determinations of Lawmakers and agencies in Kentucky and Illinois, and in the Tennessee case of *Memphis Publishing v. Cherokee Children*, 87 SW 3d 67, (2002)

A 2007 determination of the Attorney General of the State of Kentucky, in regard to a Child Advocacy Center in Ashland Kentucky, ("Hope's Place") noted, significantly, that...

Neither Hopes Place nor the Cabinet for Health and Family Services disputes the advocacy center's status as a public agency under the Open Public Records Act... (See 07-ORD-036, In re: Ray Eplion/Hope's Place)

In addition, Kentucky law KRS 620.050(6) implicity recognizes Child Advocacy Centers as Public Agencies by providing an exception to disclosure for:

Files, reports, notes, photographs, records, electronic and other communications, and working papers used or developed by a children's advocacy center in providing services under this chapter . . .

The Legislature of the State of Illinois, in 55 ILCS 80, the "Children's Advocacy Center Act" has adopted another persuasive State Statute recognizing the important and fundamental core government functions performed by Child Advocacy Centers. The Illinois Legislature found that:

(a) The General Assembly finds that the creation of accredited Children's Advocacy Centers ("CACs") accredited throughout the State of Illinois is essential to providing a formal, comprehensive, integrated, and multidisciplinary response to the investigation and disposition of reports of child maltreatment;...

The General Assembly further finds that... The protection of children from physical abuse, sexual abuse and exploitation, and neglect, hereinafter "child maltreatment", is at the core of the duties and fundamental responsibilities of the General Assembly and provides the highest compelling interest...(emphasis added)

Similarly, the Court of Appeals of Tennessee, in *Memphis Publishing v. Cherokee Children*, 87 SW 3d 67, (2002), found that an ostensibly "private" entity providing child care and placement related services to children was the functional equivalent of a public agency due in large part to the inherently public functions it performed. That Court ruled:

...when an entity assumes responsibility for providing public functions to such an extent that it becomes the functional equivalent of a governmental agency, the Tennessee Public Records Act guarantees that the entity is held accountable to the public for its performance of those functions.

Having set forth the "functional equivalency" test, we next must apply that analysis to the case under submission. Most critically, the services performed by Cherokee, providing child care services for indigent families and supervising child care placements under TDHS guidelines, were undeniably public in nature.

The Tennessee Court concluded...

While it is true that: (1) Cherokee was privately incorporated rather than created by the legislature; (2) the contracts disavowed any agency relationship between Cherokee and the State; and (3) the parties asserted that the State incurred no tort liability for Cherokee's activities, these considerations are outweighed by the other factors listed above. (Memphis, supra, emphasis added)

In a similar case the Court in Tennessee cited to Memphis and ruled that:
...the state has no higher duty than to ensure that those persons who violate society's laws are punished. Fulfilling that duty is essential to the integrity of the government and to the protection of the public. It is not a duty that can legally or morally be handed to a private party and then ignored. *Friedmann v. Corrections Corporation of America*, 310 S.W.3d 366 (2009)

2. DAWSON PLACE WAS LARGELY CREATED BY PUBLIC OFFICIALS BASED ON DECADES OF SPECIAL LEGISLATION

In considering only a formalistic argument that the CAC had been privately incorporated the Court ruled at variance with the sound precedent of Board of Trustees of Woodstock Academy v. FOIC, 181 Conn. 544, 549, 436 A.2d 266 (1980), (Cited in Telford)

In conducting a functional equivalency analysis, formalistic arguments that an entity is a nonprofit organization are usually rejected by the courts as non-determinative. Rather, courts look at substance over form due to the existence of a myriad of organizational arrangements for accomplishing government business⁴

See Board of Trustees of Woodstock Academy v. FOIC, 181 Conn. 544, 549, 436 A.2d 266 (1980), (Cited in Telford)

However in the present case, the Court erred in applying a rigid "identity of incorporators" rule that elevated form over substance and ignored the totality of circumstances and a 30 year history of special federal and state legislation fostering the Child Advocacy model, the History of the development of the national CAC model and the substance and legislative history of the laws governing CACs in the State of Washington.

It cannot be reasonably disputed that the first CAC in Huntsville Alabama, which precipitated the entire CAC movement, was started by a Prosecutor, Bud Cramer in the early 80s to facilitate a core governmental function, the effective prosecution of child abusers.

The first Child Advocacy Canter, (which grew into and precipitated a national movement to establish CACs nationwide) as well as the whole NCAC movement, have as their primary purpose the facilitation of effective investigation and prosecution of criminal act of child abuse.

This conclusion is borne out by the history of the NCAC in Alabama, as well as the federal statutes and federal grant programs developed to spread the CAC model throughout the 50 States, and the significant involvement of the Department of Justice in facilitating, supervising, and encouraging the development of a national network of

Children's Advocacy Centers and various National, Regional and State based organizations to foster and support local CACs.

The Department of Justice has a number of programs and publications encouraging and providing guidance in the formation and operation of CACs, including such publications as "Forming a Multidisciplinary Team to Investigate Child Abuse⁵" and "Resource for Evaluating Child Advocacy Centers⁶" a resource book, written expressly for administrators of Child Advocacy Centers.

In 1985, Congressman Robert E. "Bud" Cramer (AL), who was then a District Attorney, organized an effort to create a better system to help abused children. He was frustrated as a prosecutor, because he was having difficulty prosecuting child abuse cases and getting guilty verdicts or pleas for offenders of crimes against children. He noticed the social service and the criminal justice systems were not working together in an effective manner... He pulled together law enforcement, criminal justice, child protective service, medical and mental health workers into one coordinated team that would serve child victims of crime in a respectful way. Thirty years ago, this was a revolutionary idea⁷.

As Theresa Young⁸ and various other scholars have correctly observed...

8

⁵

http://www.popcenter.org/problems/child_abuse/PDFs/Ells(1998).pdf

https://www.nij.gov/Pages/welcome.aspx*aboration in multidisciplinary teams*,
http://acumen.lib.ua.edu/content/u0015/0000001/0001852/u0015_0000001_0001852.pdf

http://blog.al.com/live/2014/04/child_advocacy_started_in_hunt.html

In harmony with the active role of the federal government acting in collaboration with the State of Washington, and aided by these federal

laws and grant programs, Washington State, in 2010, passed HB 2596, (Now incorporated in RCW 26.44) which defined a "Children's Advocacy Center" as:

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