FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/4/2020 9:24 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98150-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LORI SHAVLIK and ARTHUR WEST,

Appellants,

v.

DAWSON PLACE,

Respondent,

RESPONDENT DAWSON PLACE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey S. Myers Law, Lyman, Daniel, Kamerrer & Bogdanovich, P.S. P.O. Box 11880 Olympia, WA 98508 (360) 754-3480 jmyers@lldkb.com

I.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
II.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUE5	
III.	ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW 5	
	A.	THIS COURT OF APPEALS FAITHFULLY APPLIED WASHINGTON LAW AND THERE IS NO CONFLICT WITH FORTGANG V. WOODLAND PARK ZOO
	В.	THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC CONCERN OR CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE MERITING SUPREME COURT REVIEW
IV.	CONCLUSION	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES <u>Page</u>
Fortgang v. Woodland Park Zoo, 187 Wn.2d 509, 387 P.3d 690 (2017)
Telford v. Thurston County Board of Commissioners, 95 Wn.App. 149, 165-166, 974 P.2d 886 (1999) 1, 6-8, 10
RULES
RAP 13.4(b)5, 11
RAP 14.4(b)6
STATUTES
Chapter 497, Laws of 2009, Sec. 1048
Public Records Act (PRA)
RCW 26.44
RCW 43.63A.125(1)

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a public records case filed against a private non-profit corporation organized as a Section 501(c)(3) charity to serve the needs of victims of child abuse. Plaintiffs made public records requests to this private entity, with full knowledge that it is not an "agency" covered by the Public Records Act ("PRA").

On November 30, 2017 Judge George F. B. Appel issued an order granting Defendant Dawson Place's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying motions for summary judgment by Plaintiffs Arthur West and Lori Shavlik¹. Judge Appel's decision analyzed the question of whether Dawson Place Child Advocacy Center ("Dawson Place") was a functional equivalent of an agency under the factors set forth in *Telford v. Thurston County Board of Commissioners*, 95 Wn.App. 149, 165-166, 974 P.2d 886 (1999) which was adopted by the Supreme Court in *Fortgang v. Woodland Park Zoo*, 187 Wn.2d 509, 387 P.3d 690 (2017). Applying the tests adopted by this Court in *Fortgang*, Judge Appel found that none of the "*Telford* factors" favored a finding that Dawson Place should be subject to the PRA and that all the *Telford* factors compelled the opposite result.

¹ This case involves two separate Public Records Act cases which were consolidated pursuant to CR 42.

Petitioners appealed seeking direct review by the Supreme Court, which denied this request, sending the matter to Division One of the Court of Appeals. On November 25, 2019 Division One affirmed Judge Appel's summary judgment ruling, holding that Dawson Place is not the functional equivalent of a government agency under the Public Records Act.

Dawson's Place is a charitable organization designed to serve the needs of abused children. One of its primary functions is to own a building which provides a common location for public and private entities to address the physical, mental, emotional and legal needs of abused children. CP 4058. Dawson's Place leases space to several tenants who provide such services on behalf of victims of child abuse, specifically:

- Providence Intervention Center for Assault and Abuse (PICAA)
- Compass Health Child Advocacy Program (CAP)
- Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney Special Assault Unit
- Snohomish County Sheriff Special Investigation Unit; and,
- Department of Social and Health Services, Division of Child and Family Services (DCFS).

CP 4058.

By co-locating these service agencies in a single building, abused children are not forced to go to multiple locations to receive the therapy, treatment, and advocacy services they desperately need. Dawson Place

facilitates access to the needed services for abused children and allows a multi-disciplinary approach to their needs. CP 4057-58.

Dawson Place employs expert child interviewers who interview child victims at the request of law enforcement agencies, pursuant to a professional services agreement with Snohomish County. CP 4087. The interviewers are trained experts who follow nationally recognized standards designed to elicit factual responses from child victims. The interviews are videotaped and provided to investigators for use in legal proceedings. However, Dawson Place itself has no decision-making authority in the investigation or prosecution of child abuse cases. CP 4056-57. All such authority is retained by law enforcement and the prosecuting attorney's office. Moreover, no law compels Dawson Place to perform any such functions, which is done pursuant to contract.

The majority of Dawson Place's operational funding comes from private donations. CP 4059. For fiscal years from 2014 to the first half of FY 2017, Dawson Place received between 24% and 43% was from governmental funding. CP 4313. Between 57% and 76% was received from private sources and rental income from the Dawson Place building. *Id.* Dawson Place receives public funds in exchange for providing the child interview specialists pursuant to its professional services contract. It

is paid rent in exchange for providing office space to its tenants, both public and private alike.

Dawson Place historically has received capital funding from state and federal grants available to non-profit corporations through the federal Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and Washington State Department of Commerce. CP 4061. These funds were used for the purchase and renovation of the building Dawson Place now occupies. The funds obtained from the Washington State Department of Commerce were provided through the Local and Community Projects Grant Program under RCW 43.63A.125(1). This source of funding is available to numerous charities and non-profit organizations and has been used to build projects on behalf of the Boys and Girls Clubs in several localities, the Federal Way National Little League, Cold Creek YMCA, and Salvation Army of Clark County. See Chapter 497, Laws of 2009, Sec. 1048.

Dawson Place, as a non-profit charitable corporation, is organized under the laws of the State of Washington pursuant to Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws. CP 4068. These Bylaws provide that the governance of the non-profit corporation is through a Board of Directors which has a majority of its membership comprised of community members. CP 4974. The service agencies located at Dawson Place also have a seat on the board but do not control a majority of votes. Dawson

Place is organized as wholly owned subsidiary of Compass Health, a private service provider. CP 4068.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUE

A. Whether the Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b) where the Court of Appeals closely followed recent Supreme Court precedent establishing the test for whether an entity is the functional equivalent of a governmental agency under the Public Records Act?

III. ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. THIS COURT OF APPEALS FAITHFULLY APPLIED WASHINGTON LAW AND THERE IS NO CONFLICT WITH FORTGANG V. WOODLAND PARK ZOO.

In order to seek review of a Court of Appeal Court decision,
Appellants must demonstrate that it is within the types of cases listed in
RAP 13.4(b). Plaintiffs do not argue why this case fits these criteria,
which are:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is inconflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

First, the Supreme Court has already decided the issues of law as to what test should be applied to claims that a private entity is the

functional equivalent of an agency under the Public Records Act. This case is a straight-forward application of the rules set forth in *Fortgang* which clearly demonstrate that, like the Woodland Park Zoo, Dawson Place is not the functional equivalent of an agency under Washington law.

Petitioners spend considerable time pointing to cases from other jurisdictions, but do not devote any of their petition to identifying why or how the Court of Appeals decision departs from or conflicts with the *Fortgang* decision. The body of the petition does not cite to any of the provisions of *Fortgang*, which was adopted weeks before the records requests at issue were made, and which is dutifully cited and closely followed by the Court of Appeals opinion. Thus, there is no conflict with the controlling Supreme Court precedent so recently adopted in *Fortgang*. Thus, under the first criteria in RAP 14.4(b), the Court should deny the request for direct review.

Secondly, the Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals opinion misapplies the *Telford* test, without citation to any particular portion of the opinion and without discussing the articulation and application of that test set forth in *Fortgang*. The Court of Appeals correctly followed the ruling of this court in *Fortgang* and applied it to the facts applicable to Dawson Place.

The reasons explained in the Court of Appeals opinion show a faithful examination of the functions performed by Dawson Place and analyze them under the four-part test first articulated in *Telford* and explained and adopted in *Fortgang*. The Court explained the three major functions of Dawson Place: 1) acting as a landlord to governmental and non-governmental entities that serve the needs of abused children; 2) coordinating information sharing between these entities, while reserving decision-making to the appropriate entities; and 3) employing two child interview specialists who, pursuant to contracts with government entities, perform forensic interview services to victims of abuse, at the request of law enforcement, counsellors, social workers or health care providers. 452 P.3d at 1249. The Court noted that these functions, while important in serving the needs of abused children, are not inherently governmental in nature, but advance the therapeutic process for these young victims while allowing law enforcement, social service agencies and health care providers all to benefit. *Id*.

The Court critically evaluated Petitioners' arguments and rejected them because Dawson Place does not exercise any governmental decision-making authority. Despite Petitioners' unsupported claims to the contrary, the uncontradicted evidence demonstrated that Dawson Place exists and functions even where there is no law enforcement role at all. Thus it

correctly determined that the first *Telford* factor, was not met because Dawson Place does not perform any nondelegable governmental function.

Secondly, the Court correctly found that much of Dawson Place's governmental funding was from grants for non-profits to buy and upgrade its building. 452 P.3d. at 1250. The Court of Appeals correctly followed *Fortgang* by distinguishing income that is derived from fees for services from dedicated governmental funding. *Id.* at 1251. When income from services provided to the government is excluded, less than half of Dawson Place's income comes from public sources. *Id.* at 1251. Petitioners cast a blind eye to this part of the *Fortgang* analysis and failed to offer competent evidence concerning the amount of governmental funding.

As to the third factor in the *Fortgang* analysis, the Court correctly found that there is no day-to-day control over Dawson Place by government agencies. The Court correctly found that the protocols required by RCW 26.44 apply to the County and do not directly regulate a child advocacy center. Additionally, Dawson Place's by-laws ensure control of the Board is in private, not governmental hands. The Court thus faithfully applied the third factor to find a lack of governmental control over Dawson Place.

The fourth *Fortgang* factor, government origin, is grossly distorted by Petitioners, who select isolated passages from deposition testimony to

highlight the efforts of supporters who were in government positions. They ignore completely the roles of community organizers and private entities to build and organize Dawson Place into a non-profit corporation. The Court correctly points out that Dawson Place was not created by legislation and pre-existed the adoption of RCW 26.44 which required counties to establish protocols for investigating child abuse. Dawson Place was supported by a broad coalition of actors, some of whom were government officials, but others who were citizens, activists and companies devoted to providing health care and counselling services to children who have suffered unimaginably as victims of abuse. The Court was cognizant of all the facts and did not myopically select only those favorable to a partisan argument, as Petitioners do.²

Moreover, there is no fundamental and urgent issue in applying the PRA to a non-profit corporation in this case. To the extent Appellants contend that governmental tenants are located at the building owned by Dawson Place, the records of the Snohomish County Prosecutor, Sheriff and DSHS would be subject to the PRA through requests to each

-

² Petitioners claim that their version is "uncontradicted" evidence. Dawson Place welcomed support from individuals, whether employed by the government or not. It welcomed and depended on the efforts of citizens like Carole Kosturn and Mary Johanson who described a broad based community effort, acknowledging the contributions of Mr. Roe, Ms. Ellis and others. Petitioners falsely state that Dawson Place was created by Seth Dawson but point to no official act that accomplished this task. In reality, the Child Advocacy Center was named for Mr. Dawson who founded units within the Prosecutor's Office to pursue child abuse cases.

respective agency. Thus, records concerning investigations conducted by the Special Investigation Unit of the Sheriff or the Prosecutor's Special Assault Unit can be requested from Snohomish County, including records of child interviews provided pursuant to the contract with Dawson Place.

Finally, Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals misapplied Fortgang and Telford because they require review of the "totality of the circumstances". They contend, without supporting citation, that the Court disregarded analysis of the total circumstances in favor of a checklist approach. This is incorrect. The Court did assess the total circumstances, including all the Telford factors, despite Petitioners' argument that they should disregard that test and find that it plays an "inherently governmental" role in law enforcement. The Court correctly rejected this argument, which grossly overstates the role of a child advocacy center.

452 P.3d at 1248.

The Court of Appeals faithfully applied the law as set forth in *Fortgang*. There is no conflict with Washington law that supports granting the petition for review.

/////

/////

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC CONCERN OR CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE MERITING SUPREME COURT REVIEW.

The last two criteria in RAP 13.4(b) are not present in this case. There is no constitutional issue as this is solely a matter of statutory application of the Public Records Act and what entities are "agencies" under the statute.

Likewise, this case does not present any substantial issue of public concern. Indeed, the issue of law at issue was recently decided in *Fortgang*. Petitioners present no basis for reconsideration of that decision and do not discuss or even bother to cite to the Fortgang decision. As such, the Court should deny the petition for review.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the motion for direct review.